RECEIVED

State of Wisconsin Court of Appeals District 2

12-28-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2016AP001923 - CR

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

Adam M. Zamora,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of the Kenosha County Circuit Court, The Honorable Chad Kerkman, presiding

Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 735 W. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1200 Milwaukee, WI 53233

414.671.9484

Attorneys for the Appellant

Statement of the Issues

Whether the circuit judge properly exercised his discretion under § 907.02, Stats., at a so-called *Daubert* hearing, permitting the state's expert witness to testify by merely taking "judicial notice" that the witness had been recognized as an expert by other judges in the county.

Answered by the circuit court: Yes.

Summary of the Argument

The admission of expert testimony is a matter left to the discretion of the circuit court. The court, however, must exercise its discretion consistent with its gatekeeper obligation under § 907.02(1), Stats. One purpose of the gatekeeper function is to prevent to admission of so-called expert testimony on the issue of witness credibility.

The circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if the decision is not based upon facts in the record, and upon the

proper legal standard. Here, there were no facts in the record at the *Daubert* hearing. Instead, the court purported to take "judicial notice" of the rulings of other circuit judges permitting Julianne McGuire to testify. Thus, the circuit court here erroneously exercised its discretion.

The error in admitting McGuire's testimony was not harmless. Most of McGuire's testimony was plainly intended to bolster the credibility of the child witness, Samantha. As such, it was not properly admissible.

Statement of the Case

I. Procedural History

On December 19, 2013, the defendant-appellant, Adam M. Zamora (hereinafter "Zamora"), was charged with three counts of first degree sexual assault of a child arising out of a single incident that allegedly occurred in the City of Kenosha on September 2, 2013. (R:1) The complaint alleged that Zamora had sexual contact with "Samantha" on her breasts, on her vagina, and that he prompted Samantha to touch his (Zamora's) penis.

Zamora waived a preliminary hearing (R:44-5), he was

4

_

¹ For clarity, the victim, STS, will be referred to by the pseudonym "Samantha". Obviously, this is not her real name.

bound over for trial, and he then he entered not guilty pleas. *Id.*

On January 13, 2015, the state filed a notice and summary of expert testimony. (R:13; App. B) The notice indicated that the state intended to call Julie McGuire, MSW² to "testify about common and uncommon reporting behaviors of child victims of sexual assault including, but not limited to, delayed and piece-meal disclosures, recantation, along with the Step-Wise interview protocol utilized by Children's Hospital. Julie McGuire may also testify to the common and/or uncommon features of child sexual abuse including the difficulties of children molested in a similar fashion over a long period of time in being able to specifically recall individual acts or incidents, the fact that the child sexual abuse frequently goes undetected and why, the commonalities of perpetrators being entrusted family members or friends, the fact that other family members are frequently in the home and unaware of the conduct when abusive conduct is ongoing . . . " Attached to the notice was a *curriculum vitae* of Ms. McGuire.

Zamora orally objected to the McGuire testimony, and asked the court to set the matter for a hearing on the admissibility of the expert testimony (a so-called "Daubert hearing") (R:53-3) The matter was then set for a hearing.

At the outset of the hearing, Zamora made his objection to McGuire's testimony more explicit. He said, "It is our position

5

² Masters of Social Work

that even though she [McGuire] has testified previously as to *Daubert*, and has been qualified as an expert in different area under *Daubert*, in this particular area I believe that she is not, per se, an expert because she has never been peer reviewed as to what her degree of accuracy is, nor is she relying on any subject matter in this particular tight little area that has also be peer reviewed. In essence, what she will be doing is testify [sic] and will be almost using self-authentication." (R:54-3)

The state argued that no hearing was necessary because McGuire, in the past, has "been thoroughly vetted not only by this Court but by other Courts in the circuit. I filed today and I previously provided to Mr. Barth a written decision-- or transcripts rather-- of oral ruling issued by Judge Milisauskas and Judge Michael Wilk . . ." (R:54-4) in other cases. Significantly, the state did not provide the court with a transcript of McGuire's testimony at the hearing, nor a summary of the issues that were present in each of the cases.

Without requiring McGuire to testify at the *Daubert* hearing, the court ruled that her testimony would be permitted at trial. (R:54-10) The court said, "I take judicial notice of the decisions of Judge Wilk and Judge Milisauskas. I take note in the decisions that have been provided to the Court, I take note in the decision of Judge Wilk. He states that Ms. McGuire has been qualified as an expert in front of Judge Milisauskas and Judge Warren and he believed Jude Wagner as well. She's

also been qualified as an expert in this court." (R:54-9, 10) The judge then went on to make "findings" consistent with the findings made by the other judges. *Id.*

Beginning on May 11, 2015, the matter was tried to a jury. At the conclusion of the evidence, the jury returned verdict finding Zamora guilty of all three counts (R:23, 24, 25)

The court sentenced Zamora to nineteen years in prison on each count, concurrent to each other, bifurcated as nine years initial confinement and nine years of extended supervision. (R:57-27)

Zamora timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. There were no postconviction motions. Instead, Zamora filed a notice of appeal.

II. Factual Background

At the time of the incident, Zamora was living with his fiancee, Lori³ and her four children (who also happen to be Zamora's nieces and nephew; Lori was previously married to Zamora's brother). Around that time, Lori's sister "Nancy" moved in with her three children, including Samantha, after a breakup with a boyfriend. (R:55-83) Zamora was the stay-at-home dad in this situation, as he was unemployed and on supervision. (R:55-87)

³ Not her real name. For clarity, the girlfriend will be called "Lori"

⁴ Not her real name. For clarity, the sister will be called "Nancy"

One night in September of 2013, when Nancy and Lori were gone, Zamora was watching the children. The girls had been making fun of Samantha for a boy she liked, and she was upset about it. Samantha went to one of the bedrooms on the ground floor to watch a movie by herself. (R:55-87, 88) After some time, Zamora came into the bedroom and told her not to worry, that she was pretty, and that someday she would find a boy who liked her. (R:55-89)

Zamora left, but then he returned a little while later, and asked Samantha if she trusted him. He left again, during which time Samantha fell asleep. Later, she woke up to find Zamora in her bed. According to Samantha's testimony, Zamora pulled up her shirt and put his mouth on her breast; he also put his hand down her pants. (R:55-121 to 123) He tried to pull her hand toward his groin but she resisted and ran to the bathroom, where she locked herself in (R:55-125).

Later, when she got out of the room, he told her that his life depended on her not telling anyone. She did not tell anyone until approximately two months later when she wrote a note to a friend at school. (R:55-96; 153) Samantha and her friend told the school counselor later that day at lunch. The counselor initiated an investigation and recommended Samantha tell her mother. Samantha did, but Lori and Nancy, according to Samantha, did not believe her. (R:55-137) This caused Samantha to recant and to change her statement several times.

Ultimately, though, she testified that it did happen and that she was just afraid to tell anyone.

Julianne McGuire was called by the state as an expert witness at trial. McGuire is employed by Children's Hospital of Wisconsin in Kenosha as a forensic interviewer. She works at the Child Advocacy Center and has for about fifteen years. (R:56-23) She has a masters degree in social work, but she has no degrees in psychology. (R:56-37)

After describing the "Step-Wise" method of questioning children, McGuire was asked whether "this technique increases the reliability of the information." (R:56-27) McGuire said, "Absolutely." *Id.* Additionally, the prosecutor asked, "Have you found these techniques to give you reliable, credible information from these children?" (R:56-28). Again, McGuire agreed. *Id.* On the other hand, the prosecutor also asked, "Do you ever see situations in which a child will fabricate an abusive event to get revenge on an adult that they're mad at?" (R:56-31, 32) McGuire said that it was possible, but, "I don't in my practice see that. I have, you know, in the 3,000 interviews I've done I can't recall that that is any kind of common theme whatsoever in those interviews. Typically, if a child lies, to use a better word, they're going to lie to get out of trouble . . ." (R:56-32)

Then McGuire was asked to describe the "common patterns" of child molesters. McGuire told the jury, "It's most often exactly the opposite of Chester the Molester, this violent

person who's going to come out of the woods and attack children. It's much more often someone who will gain the trust of the child. Oftentimes a perpetrator wants an ongoing relationship with the child . . . It's someone that is gaining the trust of that child, treating the child special, and you know, befriending the child." (R:56-34, 35)

McGuire claimed that one reason children delay disclosure is because of the perpetrator threatening the child with things like, "If you tell anyone, I'll kill your pet fluffy. If you tell anyone . . . you don't want me to go to jail or something like that." (R:56-35)

Zamora also testified at trial. He flatly denied that he had any sexual contact with Samantha. (R:56-67) According to Zamora, on the night that Samantha went to bed early because she was crying, he did go into the room and he kissed her on on the forehead, and nothing else happened. (R:56-66)

Argument

I The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in allowing McGuire to testify at trial based only upon a review of transcripts of decisions in other cases; and, moreover, the error is prejudicial because the testimony offered at trial bore almost exclusively on the credibility of the child witness.

The admission of expert testimony is a matter left to the discretion of the circuit court. The court, however, must exercise its discretion consistent with its gatekeeper obligation under § 907.02(1), Stats. One purpose of the gatekeeper function is to prevent to admission of so-called expert testimony on the issue of witness credibility.

The circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if the decision is not based upon facts in the record, and upon the proper legal standard. Here, there were no facts in the record at the *Daubert* hearing. Instead, the court purported to take "judicial notice" of the rulings of other circuit judges permitting McGuire to testify. Thus, the circuit court here erroneously exercised its discretion.

The error in admitting McGuire's testimony was not harmless. Most of McGuire's testimony was plainly intended to bolster the credibility of the child witness, Samantha. As such, it was not properly admissible.

A Standard of Appellate Review

Admissibility of expert testimony is governed by § 907.02, Stats which codifies the so-called *Daubert* standard. § 907.02(1) provides in relevant part:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.

The court's gatekeeper function under *Daubert* "is to ensure that the expert's opinion is based on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the material issues." *State v. Giese*, 2014 WI App 92, ¶ 18, 356 Wis.2d 796, 854 N.W.2d 687. "The goal is to prevent the jury from hearing conjecture dressed up in the guise of expert opinion." *Id.*,

"[W]hether to admit or exclude expert testimony is reviewed under an erroneous exercise of discretion standard." State v. Chitwood, 2016 WI App 36, ¶ 30, 369 Wis.2d 132, 879 N.W.2d 786. "A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if it applies an improper legal standard or makes a decision not reasonably supported by the facts of record." State

v. Jackson, 2014 WI 4, ¶ 43, 352 Wis. 2d 249, 272–73, 841N.W.2d 791, 802

B Admissibility of expert testimony in child sexual assault cases

Testimony concerning a witness's ability to perceive events, and to recount the events, is not proper expert testimony. *State v. Wilson*, 179 Wis.2d 660 (1993); *State v. Friedrich*, 135 Wis. 2d 1 (1987). Similarly, "No witness, expert or otherwise, should be permitted to give an opinion that another mentally and physically competent witness is telling the truth." *State v. Haseltine*, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 96, 352 N.W.2d 673, 676 (Ct. App. 1984). However, in *Haseltine*, the court did caution that:

Although we reverse Haseltine's convictions, we do not hold that psychiatric or other expert testimony is inadmissible in incest cases. Depending on the case, the testimony of an expert might aid the jury. For example, an incest victim may not immediately report the incest, or may recant accusations of incest. Jurors might reasonably regard such behavior as an indication that the victim was not telling the truth. An expert could explain that such behavior is common among incest victims as a result of guilt, confusion, and a reluctance to accuse a parent. *Id.* 657 P.2d at 1217–21.

Haseltine, 120 Wis. 2d at 96-97.

Consequently, in *State v. Jensen*, 141 Wis. 2d 333, 415 N.W.2d 519 (Ct. App. 1987) the court of appeals found that the

circuit court judge did not erroneously exercise his discretion in admitting expert testimony under the circumstances of that case. There, a guidance counselor was permitted to offer an opinion that, based on his experience, the "acting out" behavior of the victim in school was consistent with the behavior of children who were the victims of incest. A close reading of *Jensen*, though, reveals that the holding is hardly *carte blanche* for the admission of such testimony in all sexual assault cases. Firstly, the legal standard for the admission of expert testimony has changed significantly since the Jensen court held that the circuit judge did not erroneously exercise his discretion under the legal standard that then existed. Secondly, the court in Jensen recognized that such testimony may easily step over the boundary established by *Haseltine*. The lower courts were admonished to look carefully at the purpose for which the testimony was being offered.

The holding in *Jensen* is merely that, in admitting the expert testimony in that case, the circuit judge did not erroneously exercise his discretion. This is evident by the fact that the court began its analysis by writing, "A trial court has broad discretion in determining whether a witness has sufficient knowledge, skill, experience, or training to qualify as an expert." *Jensen*, 141 Wis. 2d at 336-37. Under the version of Sec.

_

⁵ The boundary being that if the testimony is offered to bolster the credibility of the child witness, then it is not admissible.

907.02, Stats. that was in effect at the time *Jensen* was decided, the judge was not obliged to act as a gatekeeper for expert testimony. Thus, *Jensen* is of little help in deciding whether McGuire's testimony was properly admissible in this case.

In any event, "[T]he expert's opinion must focus on the complainant's conduct. Both the court and counsel should take steps necessary to ensure that the expert's opinion is not used for an impermissible purpose." *Jensen*, 141 Wis. 2d at 340.

C The circuit court did not properly exercise its "gatekeeper" function by making a preliminary ruling that McGuire's testimony was admissible based only on the state's proffer and transcripts of rulings made in other cases.

In this case, prior to trial, the court conducted a so-called "Daubert hearing" concerning the admissibility of McGuire's testimony. As mentioned, the purpose of such a hearing is to permit the court to exercise its obligatory "gatekeeper" function. Although the law does not provide much guidance as to the method of conducting such a hearing⁶, it stands to reason that

App 54, ¶ 13, 370 Wis. 2d 661, 671, 885 N.W.2d 611, 615

15

⁶ For example, the court of appeals recently quoted the 5th Circuit Court of Appeals with approval where the court wrote, "The trial court, in performing its "gatekeeping" function, has discretion to choose the manner in which the reliability of an expert's testimony is appraised. However, the trial court has no discretion to abandon its role as gatekeeper. When a party objects to an expert's testimony, the court must adequately demonstrate by specific findings on the record that it has performed its duty. *State v. Cameron*, 2016 WI

the court must receive sufficient evidence, proffers, and argument from the parties to permit the court to properly make a ruling. In many cases, if not most cases, this requires the expert to testify at the *Daubert* hearing. *See, e.g. State v. Giese, 2014 WI App 92, ¶ 11, 356 Wis. 2d 796, 802, 854 N.W.2d 687, 689, review denied, 2015 WI 24, ¶ 11, 862 N.W.2d 602, where the expert testified at the <i>Daubert* hearing where the issue was whether a toxicologist would be permitted to testify to retrograde extrapolation.

Here, though, the "hearing" consisted of the prosecutor merely filing transcripts of oral rulings made by other judges in Kenosha County concerning the admissibility of McGuire's testimony. The state did not provide the transcript of McGuire's testimony at either of the prior hearings. These other judges found that, in the context of the case before them, McGuire's testimony was admissible.

The judge in Zamora's case purported to take "judicial notice" of the rulings of these other judges permitting McGuire to testify, and ordered that McGuire would be allowed to testify in the present case.

Even though the procedure to be followed at a *Daubert* hearing may be flexible, the procedure followed here is woefully inadequate to permit the court to exercise its gatekeeper function.

Firstly, the court may only take judicial notice of facts that

are not subject to reasonable dispute and which are generally known or capable of accurate and ready determination. See, § 902.01(2), Stats.

Here, the fact that Judge Wilk and Judge Milisauskas ruled that McGuire would be permitted to testify in the case that was pending before each of them is a matter that is capable of ready determination (that is, that each judge made such a ruling). McGuire's testimony in that case, and Judge Wilk's evaluation of that testimony in the context of the other case, though, is certainly subject to reasonable dispute⁷, and may not even be relevant to Zamora's case.

Most disturbing is the fact that the state provided transcripts of only the *decisions* of the judges, not of McGuire's testimony in those *Daubert* hearings. Where the records are not provided, "[A] circuit court cannot take judicial notice of its own records in another case. [internal citation omitted]" *State v. Christian*, 142 Wis. 2d 742, 746, 419 N.W.2d 319, 321 (Ct. App. 1987).

Thus, at the *Daubert* hearing in this case, there was utterly no evidence presented as to McGuire's qualifications, her opinions, and there was no argument concerning how her opinions would assist the jury. For these reasons, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in ordering that McGuire would be permitted to testify. The decision was not

⁷ As the transcripts of those hearing show, the defense lawyers vehemently disputed the admissibility of McGuire's testimony. (R:15)

based on facts in the record.

D The circuit court's error was not harmless because McGuire's testimony at trial was focused almost entirely on the credibility of the child witness.

Where the circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion in admitting evidence, the burden is on the beneficiary of the error-- here, the state-- to demonstrate that the error was harmless. "When a court has improperly admitted evidence, reversal is not warranted "unless an examination of the entire proceeding reveals that the admission of the evidence has 'affected the substantial rights' of the party seeking the reversal." *Jackson*, 2014 WI 4, ¶ 87, 352 Wis. 2d 249, 289, 841 N.W.2d 791, 810

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