## **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-01-2017

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2016AP1923-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ADAM M. ZAMORA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CHAD G. KERKMAN, PRESIDING.

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

ROBERT G. PROBST Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1063075

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7063 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) probstrg@doj.state.wi.us

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

A closer look at the rule of law in question shows it does not support Zamora's position.

The rule has its genesis in *McCormick v. Herndon*, 67 Wis. 648, 31 N.W. 303 (1887), a land dispute case in which the plaintiff claimed she and the defendant had already settled the question in a prior action and asked the circuit court to take judicial notice of that alleged fact. *McCormick*, 67 Wis. At 306. The Wisconsin Supreme Court rejected that claim because "no such former adjudication was either pleaded or proved, [and] we do not regard the question before us for consideration." *Id.* As such, "[w]e fail to find in the record any such admission, or that the court took such judicial notice; besides, we are not aware of any rule authorizing such judicial notice. If the plaintiff relied upon such former adjudication, she should, at least, have proved it as a fact in the case. It seems that, at common law, a verdict and judgment in ejectment were not conclusive." *Id.* 

That conclusion was reinforced by *State ex rel. Mengel v. Steber*, 158 Wis. 309, 149 N.W. 32 (1914), in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court again concluded that a circuit court could not just take notice of a judgment of another judgment in another case simply because the trial judge presiding was the same: "A Court may take such notice in an action of any order, judgment or proceeding in such action in such court; but that rule does not extend to any other action." *Steber*, 158 Wis. at 309.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court applied the principle to criminal cases in *State v. LaPaen*, 247 Wis. 302, 19 N.W. 2d 289 (1945), holding that a defendant advancing a double jeopardy claim could not prove up his claim merely relying upon the minutes sheets from the alleged plea hearing. *LaPaen*, 247 Wis. at 307–08. The court again more broadly restated the rule in *Perkins v. State*, 61 Wis. 2d 341, 345–47, 212 N.W.2d 141 (1973), another double jeopardy case in which the defendant alleged he had already been convicted of the crime charged but there were no records before the circuit court to support his claim. Finally, this Court in *Christian*, citing *Perkins*, held that "a circuit court cannot take judicial notice of its own records in another case." *Christian*, 142 Wis. 2d at 746 (citation omitted).

These cases fail to support Zamora's claim that the circuit court erred by taking judicial notice of properly authenticated records in other circuit courts in Kenosha County in which McGuire was also designated as an expert witness. Here the prosecutor presented the circuit court with copies of transcripts of official court proceedings in other branches of Kenosha County in which McGuire had been designated an expert witness regarding child sexual assault interviews and issues. (See 15.) The animating issue in the cases relied on by Zamora—whether the records were properly before the court or easily subject to verification—is not present here.

Where those concerns are not at issue, courts have recognized that a court may take judicial notice of documents from another case filed in the case before it, *State v. Dye*, 215 Wis. 2d 281, 288, 572 N.W.2d 524 (Ct. App. 1997), of a person's past appearances in that court, *State ex rel. Van Hout v. Endicott*, 2006 WI App 196, ¶ 2, 296 Wis. 2d 580, 724 N.W.2d 692, and of court records in other court files involving the same person, *State v. Redmond*, 203 Wis. 2d

13, 16, 552 N.W.2d 115 (Ct. App. 1996). Circuit courts have the discretion to take judicial notice at any point during a proceeding. Wis. Stat. § 902.01(6).

Thus, since *Christian* does not stand for the broad proposition advanced by Zamora, and a wealth of case law supports the circuit court's reference to McGuire's testimony before it and other circuit courts in Kenosha County, the circuit court did not err in taking judicial notice of McGuire's admission elsewhere as an expert witness.

Moreover, the circuit court did not just base its decision upon the bare fact that McGuire had been admitted as an expert elsewhere. Indeed, the circuit court noted that McGuire had appeared before it as an expert regarding the very same subject matter before (54:10), casting doubt on Zamora's seeming contention that the circuit court just admitted McGuire as an expert just because other circuit courts had done so. The circuit court was already familiar with McGuire's qualifications and experience as it noted, "She's also been qualified as an expert in this Court." (54:10.) Indeed, it began the *Daubert* hearing by stating, "I'm not quite sure why we set this for a *Daubert* hearing. I believe Ms. McGuire has testified to these issues in this court in the past." (54:2.) The court could take notice of McGuire's past appearances before it in the same capacity.

The circuit court also had McGuire's *curriculum vitae* (13:3–7), which detailed her extensive experience in interviewing possible child sexual assault victims, and her education that prepared her for those interviews. Having all of those documents before it, and already being familiar with McGuire's background and experience, the circuit court made a proper determination as directed by Wis. Stat. § 907.02. (See 54:9–10.)

# C. McGuire's testimony did not impermissibly vouch for S.T.S.

Zamora contends that McGuire impermissibly vouched for the credibility of S.T.S in her testimony, violating the rule that "[n]o witness, expert or otherwise, should be permitted to give an opinion that another mentally and physically competent witness is telling the truth." State v. Haseltine, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 96, 352 N.W.2d 673 (Ct. App. 1984). "The Haseltine rule is intended to prevent witnesses from interfering with the jury's role as the 'lie detector in the courtroom." State v. Snider, 2003 WI App 172, ¶27, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784 (quoting id.). McGuire's testimony did not violate the Haseltine rule.

In a case such as this, where a young person has been victimized by an adult male whom she views as an uncle and with whom she already lives, such testimony was not only relevant and admissible, but necessary to clarify counterintuitive behavior by the victim. As this Court observed in *Haseltine*:

Depending on the case, the testimony of an expert might aid the jury. For example, an incest victim may not immediately report the incest, or may recant accusations of incest. Jurors might reasonably regard such behavior as an indication that the victim was not telling the truth. An expert could explain that such behavior is common among incest victims as a result of guilt, confusion, and a reluctance to accuse a parent.

Haseltine, 120 Wis. 2d 92, 96–97. See also State v. Jensen, 147 Wis. 2d 240, 256, 432 N.W.2d 913 (1988) (expert witness may give an opinion about the consistency of a complainant's behavior with the behavior of victims of the same type of crime if the testimony will assist the trier of

fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue).

What a witness may not do is testify that a child witness is telling the truth. For example, in *State v. Krueger*, 2008 WI App 162, 314 Wis. 2d 605, 762 N.W.2d 114, a social worker testified that the child witness did not possess the "level of sophistication" to fabricate such a story on her own and that she "could [not] maintain that kind of consistency throughout unless it was something that she had experienced." *Krueger*, 314 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 5. Given this testimony, which specifically referred to the child witness and her interview and trial testimony and its truthfulness, this Court concluded that the social worker's testimony was "tantamount to an opinion that the complainant had been assaulted—that she was telling the truth." *Krueger*, 314 Wis. 2d 605, ¶ 16.

This case is like *Haseltine* and *Jensen*, not *Krueger*. McGuire was brought in to testify about the counterintuitive behavior sexual assault victims may engage in, including delaying reporting and sometimes even recanting when confronted with an adult. (*See* 54:5–9.) That is exactly what she testified about (56:28–34), and it was entirely permissible because of the undisputed fact that S.T.S. delayed in reporting Zamora's crime and then initially recanted when confronting an adult. At no point did McGuire testify that S.T.S. was telling the truth despite the delayed reporting and initial recantation when S.T.S. told her mother and aunt. She did not provide the kind of testimony that *Haseltine* prohibits.

McGuire's testimony was a far cry from vouching for anything S.T.S. testified to, and did not usurp the jury's role as judges of credibility. Unlike in *Krueger*, McGuire's testimony was in general terms, and described her process

and why that process was best at eliciting answers from child witnesses who might be too scared or limited verbally to explain what happened to an adult. Significantly, she did not vouch for S.T.S's credibility or even mention S.T.S's statements during the interview at any point in her testimony. (56:23–52.) She simply explained why her openended style of questioning, without leading the child, was preferential because in her experience that led to more truthful and complete answer. (56:25–28.) It was S.T.S, not anyone else, who testified that she lied and told the interviewer nothing happened in her recorded interview because "before I told them that they kept on asking me over and over again if it was true. And that just made me feel sad because it felt like they didn't really believe me. So I thought they wouldn't ask me anymore if I told them that [nothing happened]." (55:100, see also 55:101, "[b]ecause I just felt that it would be over and done with.")

Ultimately then, there is nothing in McGuire's testimony even remotely suggesting that S.T.S. was telling the truth, and that is the line the State must not cross: "The *Haseltine* rule is intended to prevent witnesses from interfering with the jury's role as the 'lie detector in the courtroom." *Snider*, 266 Wis. 2d 830, ¶ 27 (citation omitted.) Because McGuire did not speak to the truth or falsity of S.T.S's testimony, her testimony came nowhere close to violating the *Haseltine* rule.

# III. Alternatively, if the circuit court erred by allowing McGuire to testify as an expert, that error was harmless.

An error is harmless if "it [is] clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 46, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189. Harmless error also applies to a circuit court's evidentiary decisions. *See* 

State v. Hunt, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 21, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434.

If this Court concludes that the circuit court erred in admitting McGuire as an expert, or that her testimony impermissibly vouched for S.T.S. in some way, those errors were harmless because the jury was able to discern for itself whose testimony was more credible between S.T.S. and Zamora, and because S.T.S's trial testimony conformed to her early statements to investigators, as the jury also heard.

As discussed above, S.T.S., 12 at the time of trial, testified convincingly before the jury. (55:83–152.) She directly and repeatedly addressed the delay in reporting Zamora's assault, explaining that she was "upset and happy [to tell someone about the assault] . . . happy because I actually told someone and upset because I knew that I would go through this." (55:99–100.) When she told her mom and aunt, S.T.S said they "kept on asking me if it was the truth" (55:100) which made her "[a] little upset because I didn't know if they believed me or not." (id.) Thus S.T.S. testified she recanted initially "[b]ecause before I told them [that it didn't happen] they kept on asking me over and over again if it was true. And that just made me feel sad because it felt like they didn't really believe me. So I thought they wouldn't ask me anymore if I told them [it didn't happen]." (id.) And when later aggressively cross-examined by defense counsel, S.T.S. did not recant, relent, or alter her story. Instead, she affirmatively testified that "I know that he was pulling my shirt up" (55:121), that Zamora put his mouth "on my boob[]" (55:122), and that Zamora "put his hands . . . [a]t the lower part of my body." (55:123.) Finally, S.T.S. testified that Zamora "lifted up my hand and started like pulling it towards [his groin]." (55:125.) After this, S.T.S. left the room and locked herself in the bathroom. (id.)

The jury learned about S.T.S.'s recantations not only from her, but also by viewing a recording of S.T.S's forensic interview, conducted shortly after S.T.S. first revealed the incident, which was not conducted by McGuire but by Kenosha County Social Services' Paula Hocking. (55:93.) In that video, S.T.S. initially denies (see 55:100) that Zamora assaulted her.

S.T.S.'s testimony was in substantial conformance the other for the with witnesses State, including Detective Warren DenHartog, who first became involved when a counselor from S.T.S's school contacted him. (56:6–7.) Detective DenHartog also testified that S.T.S. initially denied that Zamora had assaulted her, but, following further conversations with her and one of S.T.S.'s friends, L.G., 3 S.T.S. admitted that she had written a note to L.G. and that Zamora had done the things she described in it. (56:7–9.) Through Detective DenHartog, the State introduced the note S.T.S. had written to L.G. when she first confided in her (56:20), and the note included the same details S.T.S. had just testified to at trial:

Put it on your life that you won't tell. It's about the bad touch. I was sleeping in the back room and I was watching movies and my uncle<sup>4</sup> came and laid by me and said do you trust me and I said yes because I didn't know what he was talking about. So I feel asleep, he came back and did something very bad to me and I'm very, very shy and nervous to tell you what happened. . . . He put his mouth on my -- and there's a drawing and underneath the drawing says the word 'boob' -- and he put his hand . . . under my -- and then there's a drawing and then in pencil it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> L.G. is a minor so the State will only refer to her by her initials.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Though Zamora was engaged to marry S.T.S.'s mother, he had previously been married to S.T.S.'s mother's sister. (56:59–60.) Thus, the "uncle" description of Zamora.

looks like it says panties. It says he tried to put my hand by his part, but I pulled away.

(56:20.)

L.G. testified previously, confirming the chronology of the note after the assault (55:154–155) and that the note S.T.S. wrote said "not to tell anyone and . . . that her uncle touched her." (55:154.) L.G. testified without contradiction that she then gave the note to a school guidance counselor because S.T.S. was too "afraid, shy, and nervous" to do so herself. (55:155.)

All of this took place before the jury: S.T.S's testimony, and those syncing up her statements (including L.G. and Detective DenHartog), compared to Zamora's own testimony which admitted that he had been there the night of the assault but denied that it took place. (56:74.) The jury was therefore able to discern for itself whom it found more credible, just as they were instructed:

You jurors are the judges of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight of the evidence. . . .

It is the duty of the jury to scrutinize and to weigh the testimony of witnesses and to determine the affect (sic) of the evidence as a whole. You are the sole judges of the credibility, that is the believability, of the witnesses and of the weight to be given to their testimony.

(56:96.)

The jury was also instructed about expert testimony (see 56:97–98), including the clear directive that "[o]pinion evidence was received to help you reach a conclusion; however, you are not bound by any expert's opinions." (56:98.)

Jurors are presumed to follow the instructions as given. State v. Gary M.B., 2004 WI 33, ¶ 33, 270 Wis. 2d 62, 676 N.W.2d 475. And because McGuire's testimony did not in any way speak to the truth or falsity of S.T.S.'s statements, the jury was not asked to "add" an unfair weight which tipped the scales toward the State. Instead, the jury simply had to decide who was more credible: S.T.S. or Zamora. By virtue of their verdicts, the jury found S.T.S. more credible.

In view of all of this live testimony by the victim, defendant and disinterested fact witnesses, McGuire's testimony was harmless because a rational jury would have convicted Zamora even without her testimony.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm Zamora's judgment of conviction.